

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontano K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your life. Vote relevence

Our file. Notice reference

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

Art Therapy as Applied to the Ego-Developmental Issues of Traumatic Child Abuse

Beverley T. King

A Research Paper

in

The Department

of

Art Education and Art Therapy

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts
Concordia University
Montreal, Quebec, Canada

August 1995

(C) Beverley T. King, 1995



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Weilington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your life. Votre reference

Cartier Noter offeroce

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive Bibliothèque permettant à la nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à disposition la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-612-10920-8



	<i>L</i> .	!	12.	
Name	1) ever	W	IM	<u>n(</u>
A: 1		. 7	$\overline{}$	• -

Dissertation Abstracts International is a ranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

EDUCATION - Art

O 273 U·M·I

SUBJECT TERM

Subject Categories

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE	
Architecture	0729
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
Journalism	กาจา
Elema Salanaa	037
Library Science	0700
Mass Communications	0/ 00
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theorer	0465
POLICATION	
EDUCATION	0616
General	0515
Administration Adult and Continuing Agricultural	0514
Adult and Continuing	0516
Agricultural	0517
Art	0273
Art Bilingual and Multicultural	0282
Business Community College Curriculum and Instruction Early Childhood	0688
Community College	0275
Curriculum and Instruction	0727
Early Childhood	ำกรโล
Elementary	0574
Claritory	0324
Finance	02//
Guidance and Counseling	0319
Health	0680
Higher	0/45
History of	0520
Home Economics	0278
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	0279
Mathematics	0280
Music	0522
Philosophy of	0000
Philosophy of	0522
raysicul	0323

Psychology Reading Religious Sciences Secondary Social Sciences Sociology of Special Teacher Training Technology Tests and Measurements Vocational	0535 0527 0714 0533 0534 0340 0529 0530 0710
	•
LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND	
LINGUISTICS	
Language Gereral	0470
Ancient	0077
Linguistics	กรอก
Modern	0291
Literature	
General	.0401
Classical	0294
Comparative	.0295
Medieval	0297
Modern	.,0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	0305
Canadian (English)	0352
Canadian (French)	0355
English	0593
Germonic	0311
Latin American	
Middle Eastern	0313
Romance	0313
Slavic and East European	0314

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND	
THEOLOGY	
Philosophy	0422
Religion	
General	0318
Biblical Studies	0321
Clergy	0319
History of	. U320
Philosophy of Theology	.0322
Theology	. 0465
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	.0323
Anthropyland	
Archaeology	.0324
Cultural	.0326
Archaeology	.0327
General Accounting	.0310
Accounting	.0272
Bankina	.0//0
Management	.0454
Marketing	.0336
Canadian Studies	. 0383
General	0501
Agricultural	050
Commerce-Business	050
Finance	0.508
History Labor	0.509
Labor	0510
lheory	. 051
Folklore	0358
Geography	0366
GeographyGerontology	0351
History	
Géneral	0578

Ancient Medieval Modern Black African Asia, Australia and Oceania Canadian European Latin American Middle Eastern United States	058 058 033 033 033 033 033 033	12312456375
CW	039	8
Political Science General		
International Law and Relations Public Administration Recreation Social Work	വപ	7
General Criminology and l'enology Demography Ethnic and Racial Studies	062 062 093 063	26 27 18
Studies	062	28
Ir.dustrial and Labor Relations Public and Social Welfare Social Structure and		
Development Theory and Methods Transportation Urban and Regional Planning Warnen's Studies	034 070 099 045	14)9

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	
Agriculture	
General	0473
Agronomy Animal Culture and	0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Animal Pathology	0476
Food Science and	
Technology Forestry and Wildlife	0359
Forestry and Wildlife	0478
Plant Culture	0479
Plant Pathology	0480
Plant Physiology	0817
Range Management	0777
Wood Technology	0746
Biology	
General	0306
Anatomy	0287
Biostatistics	0308
Botany	0309
Cell	0379
Ecology	0329
Entomology	0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology	0793
Microbiology	0410
Molecular	0307
Neuroscience	
Oceanography	0416
Physiology	0433
Radiation Veterinary Science	0821
Veterinary Science	0778
Zoology	0472
Biophysics	
General	
Medical	0760
EARTH SCIENCES	
Biogeochemistry	0425
Geochemistry	0996

Geodesy Geology Geophysics	.0370
Goodburies	0372
Hydrology	0388
Mineralogy	0411
Mineralogy Paleobotany	.0345
Paleoecology	.0426
Paleontology	.0418
Paleozoology	.0985
Palynology Physical Geography Physical Oceanography	.0427
Physical Geography	. 0368
Physical Oceanography	. 1415
HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA	L
SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	.0768
Health Sciences	
General	.0566
Audiology Chemotherapy	. 0300
Chemotherapy	0547
Dentistry	.036/
Hospital Management	0769
Human Development	U/ 38
Immunology Medicine and Surgery Mental Health	.0982
Medicine and Surgery	.0564
Mental Health	.0347
Nursing	. 0569
Nutrition	.05/0
Obstetrics and Gynecology Occupational Health and	0300
Thermov	0354
Ophthalmology	0381
Pathology	0571
TherapyOphthalmologyPathologyPharmocology	0419
Pharmacy Physical Therapy	0572
Physical Therapy	0382
Public Health	
Rodiology Recreation	
recreation	03/3

Speech Pathology Toxicology Home Economics	.0460
Home Economics	.0386
PHYSICAL SCIENCES	
Pure Sciences	
Chemistry	
General	.0485
Agricultural	.0749
Analytical	.0486
Biochemistry	0487
Inorganic	OARR
Nuclear	0738
Organic	0.490
Pharmoceutical	1040
Physical	
Polymer	0405
Radiation	0754
Mathematics	0405
Physics	0405
General	0405
Acoustics	0003
Astronomy and	0760
Astronomy and	0101
Astrophysics	
Almospheric Science	0608
Atomic Electronics and Electricity	0/48
Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	
High Energy Fluid and Plasma	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	0610
Optics	. 0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	0611
Statistics	0463
Applied Sciences	
Applied Sciences	0044
Applied Mechanics	0340
Computer Science	UY84

Engineering	
General	0537
General	0538
Acticultural	U.5.19
Automotive	0540
Biomedical	0541
Chemical	0542
Čivil	0543
Electronics and Electrical	0544
Civil Electronics and Electrical Heat and Thermodynamics Hydraulic Industrial	0348
Hydraulic	.0545
Industrial	0546
Marine	0547
Materials Science	0794
Mechanical	0548
Metalluray	0743
Metallurgy Mining Nuclear Packaging	0551
Nuclear	0552
Packaging	0549
Petroleum Sanitary and Municipal System Science Geotechnology Operations Research Plastics Technology Textile Technology	0765
Sanitary and Municipal	0554
System Science	0790
Geotechnology	0428
Operations Research	0796
Plastics Technology	0795
Textile Technology	0994
J,	
PSYCHOLOGY General	
General	0621
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	0622
Clinical Developmental	0620
Experimental	0623
Industrial	0674
Personality	0625
Physiological	0989
Psychobiology	0349
Psychometrics	0632
Personality. Physiological Psychobiology Psychometrics Social	0451



CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

School of Graduate Studies

This is to	certify	that	the	research	paper	prepared
------------	---------	------	-----	----------	-------	----------

By: Beverley T. King

Entitled: Art Therapy as Applied to the Ego-Developmental Issues of

Traumatic Child Abuse

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts (Art Therapy)

complies with the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

<i></i>	Grabeth Sulliony, 7A	Examine
	Jun A Jugary	Examine
	Jones.	Examine
<u> </u>	low the	Examine
Approved by _	Graduate Programme Director	
	19	

Abstract

Art Therapy as Applied to the Ego-Developmental Issues of Traumatic Child Abuse

Beverley T. King

This paper delineates a development of ideas, based on a literature search, which may be applied to future studies in art therapy concerning the ego developmental impact of traumatic child abuse.

The subject of child abuse is introduced through definitions of physical abuse, sexual abuse, child neglect and emotional abuse and neglect, as well as by a discussion of some common myths about child abuse. The traumatic impact of child abuse in terms of ego development damage is explored as well as the possible psychopathological impact of severely traumatic child abuse.

An analysis of several theoretical models asserts the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model as the most effective in terms of linking the effects of child abuse with the abusive environment. As a basis for empirical research, an attempt is made to establish a relationship between the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model and ego-developmental levels by the incorporation of a "schema framework."

The exploration of art therapy research strongly supports that art therapy is able to address areas of psychological and interpersonal functioning relating to child abuse and therefore may promote ego development. In concluding, suggestions for future research are provided.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to dedicate this paper to all survivors of traumatic child abuse, especially those who have had the courage and strength to seek inner healing.

I would especially like to thank my sister Cathy King whose support and expertise has been invaluable. Also, to my family, friends, supervisors and other mental health professionals who have given much needed support, guidance, wisdom and resource material for the compilation of this research paper.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pag	је
List of Tables	vii
Chapter	
1. Introduction	1
General Statement	1
Statement of the Problem	4
Personal Significance	4
Definitions	6
Myths About Child Abuse	3
2. Ego Developmental Impact of Child Abuse 1	7
Theories of Ego Development	7
Possible Indicators of Ego Developmental Level in Survivors of Child Abuse	20
3. Psychopathological Impact of Child Abuse	21
Ego Damage as Etiological Factor	21
Type of Maltreatment as a Factor	2
4. In Search of a Theoretical Model	25
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Model	25
Complex Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Model	27
Traumagenic Dynamics Model	29
Bridging the Gap	31
5. Art Therapy Treatment In Child Abuse 3	35
Art Process As Healer	35
Role of Art Therapist As Facilitator	
of Ego Development	38
Ego Strengthening Through Art Therapy	10

Table of Contents (continued)

Chapter	Pag	je
5.	Schema Framework Issues	12
	Visualization Technique as Ego Strengthener	15
	Problems In Treating Survivors of Traumatic Child Abuse	18
6.	Conclusion	50
	Summary	50
	Future Research	51
Bib	pliography	52

List of Tables

Table		Pa	ge
2.1	Loevinger's Ego-Development Scale		19
4.1	Relationship Between Traumagenic Dynamics Model, Schema Framework and Loevinger's Ego Development Scale		33

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

General Statement

The victimization of children has been occurring from the beginning of time (Walker, Bonner, & Kaufman, 1988). In ancient times, many societies have practiced infanticide as a method of population control. "Children were abandoned to die, drowned or smothered". In many societies throughout history, it was customary to offer children as sacrifices to gods (1988). The Bible offers numerous accounts of infanticide, such as for example, the order by the Pharoah that all newborn Jewish males be killed (Exodus 1:15-22). Although infanticide is the most severe form of child abuse, it was not the only type of child abuse that occured throughout history. Parents, priests and schoolmasters from historical times believed they had an obligation to severely chastise children as a form of discipline, literally to "beat the devil out of them (Walker, Bonner, & Kaufman, 1988, p.4)". In some societies, harsh disciplinary action was acceptable and even encouraged, for example "in the early 1600's, Massachusetts adopted the "Stubborn Child Act" which permitted parents to put a child to death if the child was rebellious and disobedient (1988, p.4)". Also, throughout history children have been exploited for their labor potential. In the age of industrialization, children were hired out as workers in factories which involved dangerous occupations and long hours, sometimes up to 14 hours per day (1988). Because of hard

economic times and the view that children were the property of their parents, children were exploited as laborers or prostitutes as an acceptable means of ensuring the survival of the family (1988). What would have been considered normal child rearing in some instances in the past is now perceived as child abuse. In December 1874, the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children was formed in New York (Walker, Bonner, & Kaufman, 1988, & Janko, 1994). During the 19th and 20th centuries, legislation began to be passed for the protection of children. This legislation involved child labor laws and the provision of financial support and education for all children (1988).

Today more than ever before people are recognizing that child abuse is a problem in our society. The knowledge of child abuse has expanded to include physical, sexual, and emotional abuse as well as child neglect. The secrecy of child abuse has been invaded by the media and the brave souls who come forth to disclose their abuse. Shame and guilt often prevented people from disclosing their stories. The stigmatization associated with victims of child abuse is less today than in past times; however we still have a way to go. It has taken a long time for society to recognize that child abuse does take place.

Children are powerless people who need protection. Luckily, in Canada, the law requires that suspicion of child abuse must be reported (Health Services Directorate, 1991). Many people however are still inclined

to turn a deaf ear and a blind eye to child abuse. People tend to believe that they should mind their own business and ignore whatever they see or hear. This is disappointing because the lives and mental well being of children are at stake. Through my own experience, I feel that many people are yet unaware of the laws governing child abuse. If it is discovered that a person knew a child was being abused but did not report it, he or she may be charged with a criminal offense (1991).

In the mental health professions, there is a growing awareness of the effects of child abuse. Child abuse may result in developmental difficulties, interpersonal problems and even mental disorders. In most instances, the aknowledgement of a person's abusive past can be beneficial for treatment of these clients.

Statement of the Problem

How can art therapy be used as treatment for the ego development damage in survivors of traumatic child abuse?

Personal Significance

This topic has personal significance in that one of my future goals is to focus on treating survivors of child abuse using art therapy. Over the years I have seen the effects of child abuse in people whom I am close to. I have seen and heard about the sadness and pain that overshadows these people's lives. I have heard stories of the "olden days", of instances where children were punched, kicked and whipped for wrongdoings. These acts were performed not only by parents, but also by other adults who happened to catch the child performing the wrongful deed. As well, I know firsthand of the abusive disciplinary acts that were performed on children in some school systems. I have seen strappings and physical mishandling of children as young as five years old in the school I attended as a child. I have witnessed the psychological assault on children as they were threatened with severe punishments. The strict Catholic schools of my childhood were ruled by teachers who put "the fear of God" in each and every one of us.

My faith in the Church has weakened as well over the past ten years with the horrible tales of child sexual abuse by priests and Christian Brothers that have come to the forefront. Scandalous tales such as the "Mount

Cashel orphanage" ordeal have triggered feelings of betrayal in me (Harris, 1990). It is about time that children be treated as human beings deserving of dignity and respect.

Through my own art experiences, I have felt the therapeutic effect that the art process has to offer. I would like to offer this experience to both children and adults who have been abused. Art therapy can be a powerful way for people to deal with and understand their unresolved conflicts. For people who have been abused, art therapy may provide a process of working through the emotions and feelings that stem from their past experiences. Art therapy provides a guided path toward personal growth and self knowledge. In writing this paper, I am beginning an exploration into a subject area that I expect will be a significant part of my future career as an art therapist.

Definitions

Traumatic Child Abuse

For the purpose of this research, traumatic child abuse is any form of child abuse which results in ego developmental delays, deficiencies, or damage (Kilgore, 1988).

Physical Abuse

Child physical abuse is defined as a nonaccidental injury inflicted on a child by the child's parent or caretaker (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983). Physical abuse is one of the most common types of child maltreatment seen by physicians (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983).

There are certain primary indicators of child physical abuse. These include:

Bruises that have the shape of the object used to strike the child, such as a belt buckle, shoe heel or lamp cord.

Burns inflicted on various parts of the child's body from a cigarette, stove and/or hot iron.

Lacerations and abrasions from being hit with hand and/or struck with object.

Head injuries such as loss of hair, retinal detachment due to shaking and/or subdural hematoma.

Bone injuries and/or old healed fractures or wounds.

Internal injuries such as peritonitis and duodenal or jejunal hematoma. (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983; Registered Nurses Association of Nova Scotia [RNANS], 1984).

Possible behavioral indicators

The child may:

Be guarded or wary around adults

Avoid physical contact

Lack ability to make friends

Exhibit passive withdrawn behavior such as lack of curiosity, cries little, enjoys little or nothing and the state of frozen watchfulness where the child watches intently what goes on about him.

-- Exhibit aggressive negative behavior such as temper tantrums, hurting other children and hyperactivity.

Somatic complaints such as headaches, pains in stomach, vomiting and bedwetting.

- Shows low self esteem
- Be overly compliant, particularly neat, be frightened when he/she does something wrong.
- Excessively self-controlled
- Be sympathetic and consoling toward the parent.
- Be lacking in development due to focus on self-protection (RNANS, 1984).

Child Neglect

Child neglect is difficult to define specifically since its definition changes with culture and time (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983). In broad terms, child neglect occurs when parents or caretakers inadequately provide for a child's basic needs. "Failure to provide minimal care to the extent that a hazard exists to the child's health or safety constitutes neglect" (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983, p. 133). Physical neglect includes inadequate supervision, abandonment and failure to provide food, clothing, shelter and/or medical care. "Some physical indicators of neglect are:

lack of good hygiene
lack of adequate clothing
lack of adequate nutrition
lack of necessary medical or dental care
lack of safe, warm, sanitary shelter
(RNANS, 1984, p.6)."

Possible behavioral indicators

As an infant may have been diagnosed as "feeding problem" or "failure to thrive".

Poor school attendance and performance

May appear tired, hungry and apathetic

Juvenile delinquency, drug and/or alcohol abuse

Emotional Abuse and Neglect

Emotional neglect and abuse of children is the most difficult form of child maltreatment to define specifically. "Emotional neglect is the failure of the parent or caretaker to provide for the appropriate emotional developmental needs of the child" (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983, p. 156). A child who does not receive emotional nurturing and who does not feel loved by his/her parents or caretakers can be said to be emotionally neglected (1983). Emotional abuse of children involves overt rejection by the parent or caretaker. There is intentional action or inaction resulting in harm to the child. The difference between emotional neglect and emotional abuse is that emotional neglect occurs at an unconscious level whereas emotional abuse occurs at a conscious knowing level (1983).

A child may be emotionally abused in many ways. The parent may replace positive reinforcements such as "I love you" with negative comments such as "You are bad and stupid." A parent may prefer one child over another and will constantly praise one child while criticizing, rejecting and withholding affection from the other. Sometimes the parent has unrealistic expectations of the child's performance in areas such as feeding, toilet training and household chores.

When a parent does not engage in activities that will enhance a child's development it is also a form of emotional abuse. The interaction of parent and child in these activities are essential to positive growth in the child.

Double-binds which are "discrepancies between verbal and non-verbal communications from parent to child" (RNANS, 1984, p. 7), can be a serious form of emotional abuse. In severe cases, such interaction may contribute to schizophrenia in children and adolescents. Double binds are a form of parental inconsistency. Other inconsistencies that are abusive toward the child are making unrealistic promises which the parents have no intention of keeping and inconsistencies concerning rewards and punishments (1984).

An emotionally abused child may react in many ways. In some instances, the child may have somatic complaints such as headache, nausea, stomach pain, enuresis or encopresis. A child may be hyperactive or underactive or may display extreme behavior varying from withdrawal to aggression. Some children, when they play, will repeat the language used toward them. A child may tell her doll "you are bad" etc. An emotionally abused child may even run away from home to escape their environment (1984).

All parents from time to time will, in the heat of anger, react to their child in a way that is unfair or they may say things that hurt the child. It is important to clarify that the above situation does not constitute emotional abuse. It is when these types of actions toward the child are prolonged and repeated that we can call them abusive.

Sexual Abuse

Child sexual abuse, like other forms of child maltreatment, is difficult to define precisely. A common definition of child sexual abuse is "the involvement of dependent, developmentally immature children and adolescents in sexual activities they do not truly comprehend, to which they are unable to give informed consent, or that violate the social taboos of family roles" (Mayes, Currie, Macleod, Gillies, & Warden, 1992, p. 16).

Sexual abuse of children encompasses a wide range of behavior including physical and genital fondling, molestation, exhibitionism, forcible and statutory rape, sexual assault, commercial exploitation of children in pornography, pedophilia, incest and misuse (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983).

Possible physical indicators

- pain or itching in the genital area
- persistent sore throat (sign of oral sex)
 difficultly walking or sitting
- bruised or swollen genitals
 unexplained bruises that may indicate a struggle
- bleeding from vagina or anus

Possible behavioral indicators

sexualized or seductive behavior such as sexual play with dolls or toys.

self mutilation

running away

alcohol and drug abuse

isolation from peers

fear of being left alone or with a particular person

lying and stealing

(RNANS, 1984).

An important point to consider is that each form of abuse does not usually stand alone in the dynamics of the abused child's situation. A child who is being physically abused is also being emotionally abused. Persistent anger is an inappropriate and damaging emotional response as it is expressed through violence (O'Hagan, 1995). O'Hagan supports this view of the interrelation between the types of abuse. "If a child is being repeatedly sexually abused, that child is also being emotionally and psychologically abused" (p. 458). Since a child may have suffered from various types of abuse it may be beneficial in terms of treatment to focus on factors that may be common to all types of abuse. By addressing common factors of child abuse, the child's needs are more likely to be met.

Myths About Child Abuse

I believe the following myths are applicable to all forms of child abuse and should be addressed in this paper.

Child Abuse Results in Long Term Trauma

The first misconception I would like to address is that child abuse inevitably results in long term trauma (Finkelhor, 1989). There are certain factors that may counteract the traumatic effects of child abuse. In some cases, child abuse may not begin until late childhood or early adolescence. An example may be when a new parental figure comes into the life of a child through re-marriage. If the child had a normal childhood before the abuse, he/she may have sufficient ego development to prevent long term trauma from occurring. Another factor that may prevent long term trauma is the availability of positive, healthy relationships with other important figures in a child's life (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983). This may be a babysitter, teacher or other influential role models. Support, praise, or encouragement can aid a child's weakened ego so long term damage does not occur. Although long term trauma may not be inevitable in survivors of child abuse, the focus of this paper is on the instances where child abuse is traumatic.

Intergenerational Transmission of Abusive Behaviour

This is the idea that abused children will grow up to abuse their children and that all abusers were once abused themselves as children. It is simply not true that all abused children grow up to become abusing parents. Many children from abusive backgrounds "grow up to be quite normal citizens who have learned to sublimate their aggression into productive modes of behaviour (Martin & Beezeley 1976, p. 139)." In fact, most often adults who have suffered from child abuse vow to never treat their own children the way they themselves were treated. There is a conscious effort by these adults to not create a cycle of child abuse. Similarly an abusive adult was not necessarily abused as a child. For example, disruption in early attachment between mother and child through circumstances such as prematurity, or illness of the mother may sometimes lead to child abuse because the mother and child fail to bond (Crittenden, & Ainsworth, 1989). Also, a parent who suffers from a mental illness may be high-risk for abusing a child (Rutter, 1989). I believe it is fair to say that having been abused as a child makes a parent high risk for being abusive, however many intervening factors makes the path between these two points far from direct or inevitable.

Finkelhor (1989) describes this misconception in relation to child sexual abuse. Research studies were done showing that anywhere from 20% to 60% of incarcerated sex offenders were sexually

abused as children (1989). He notes that the problem with these studies are that the particular population on which the studies were done, are not representative of the sexual abuser population (1989). Many child molesters never get caught and brought to justice. Of those who get convicted only about one third are incarcerated (1989). The child molesters who end up in these studies are the ones that are repetitive and pathological (1989). These offenders are most likely to come from severely dysfunctional families and most likely have been sexually abused (1989). Clearly, this population does not accurately represent the general population of child sexual abusers.

The "Them" Versus "Us" Ideology

For many of us, hearing stories of child abuse evokes strong feelings of sadness, anger and disbelief. Some people cannot accept the fact that anyone is a potential child abuser and that many of us have the capacity to be violent. This denial of reality has led to the development of a stereotype that child abusers are different from other people. There is a misconception that the phenomenon of child abuse occurs only in the families of poor minority groups. The child abuser is also thought to be "sick" or "demented". (Dubowitz and Neuberger, 1989). Finally, take for example the common stereotype for a pedophile. Many people may think of a "dirty old man" who hangs out in alleyways and wears a trenchcoat (Delin, 1978). This, I am afraid, is far from the truth. Sadly, the pedophile may be a member of one's own family, a trusted relative or neighbour.

Socioeconomic Biases

It is thought that child abuse occurs only in the lower socioeconomic classes and is more often associated with minority groups. Being poor does not "cause" child abuse. Rather, certain variables that are associated with poverty such as social stresses and poor educational resources contribute to an increased likelihood of abuse. (Zigler & Hall, 1989). The problem of child abuse cuts across all sectors of society. We are often surprised when we hear through the media the child abuse performed by well-respected while collar citizens in our own neighbourhoods. People who are educated have well-paying jobs and who manage to paint a happy picture of their family life. Stresses not necessarily related to finances may increase the likelihood of these parents becoming abusive. Marital problems and poor attachment between the child and the primary caretaker are examples of such stresses (Zigler & Hall, 1989, Crittenden & Ainsworth, 1989).

It is very important that therapists not be misinformed by such prejudicial biases, because they may affect the way child abuse cases are handled. Adequate and proper treatment of such cases may very well be dependent on the views and beliefs of the therapist involved.

Chapter 2

EGO DEVELOPMENTAL IMPACT OF CHILD ABUSE

All forms of child abuse may be considered invasions of the boundaries of the self. Therefore, damage to the ego may be considered common to all types of child abuse. A study of ego development delays and ego damage in abused children may be beneficial to treatment goals.

Theories of Ego Development

Winnicot's ego-developmental theory states that ego development depends on the presence of a mature self. The maturation of the self is the result of the person's interaction with his or her environment. Initially it is the infant's interaction with the primary caretaker that commences the growth of the self (Kilgore, 1988). This primary relationship may be crucial to the development of the self as it sets the stage for further interactions between the child and his or her environment. The separation-individuation process between the child and the primary caretaker, results in the evolution of boundary formation and autonomous ego functions (Mahler, 1968). Hartmann's theory of ego psychology states that "the ego develops by achieving an adaptational balance between the self and the environment (Kilgore, 1988, p. 225)." When an overwhelming

environment invades the boundaries of the self, the development of the ego is hindered because the ego must now protect the self from the threatening environment (1988). "Defence mechanisms" are the weapons the ego uses in its battle to protect the self.

Loevinger devised a theory to explain ego development. This theory consists of a hierarchy of stages the ego may go through. Table 2.1 is Loevinger's Ego-Development Scale that is taken from Bloomgarden and Kaplan's study (1993, p. 202). Advancement in stages "result in changes in impulse control, moral style, interpersonal relations, conscious preoccupations, and cognitive complexity (1993, p. 201)." The birth of the ego occurs in the "Presocial-symbiotic" stage. The development of the ego through the remainder of the stages occurs independent of age (1993). The ten stages are a progression from egocentricity to altruism with the "self aware" stage being the more frequent level that adults achieve (1993). Loevinger also devised a sentence completion test as a means for measuring ego development however a discussion of this technique is beyond the scope of this paper.

Table 2.1

Loevinger's Ego-Development Scale

Stage	Code	Capsule description
Presocial-Symbiotic	I-1	Earliest stage, largely preverbal (not used in scoring Loevinger's ego-development measure)
Impulsive	I-2	Dependent and demanding; fears retaliation; dichotomized thinking; frequent conceptual confusion
Self-Protective	delta	Opportunistic, manipulative, and power oriented; fears being caught; externalizes blame; views life as zero-sum game
Ritual-Traditional (transition from Self- Protective to Conformist)	delta/3	Concerned with concrete aspects of cleanliness, physical appearance, and traditional sex roles; desires respectability
Conformist	I-3	Conventional and rule bound; moralistic and sentimental; seeks acceptance by group; concern for appearances; thinks in stereotypes.
Self-Aware (transition from Conformist to Conscientious)	1-74	Painful self-criticism; elementary awareness of individual differences, multiple alternatives, and exceptions to rules; concern for appropriateness of actions
Conscientious	I-4	Responsible; guided by inner standards; achievement oriented; psychologically minded and conceptually complex; empathic and self-respecting
Individualistic (transition from Conscientious to Autonomous)	I-*/s	Values interpersonal relations and appreciates their complexity; sees paradox in- stead of polar opposites; aware of conflicting emotions; distinguishes between appearance and reality; truly tolerant
Autonomous	I-5	Copes with inner conflict; rich inner life; cherishes individuality; aware of com- plex psychological causality; values self-realization more than achievement; con- cern for broad social perspectives
Integrated	I-6	Reconciles inner conflict; involved in search for identity; values justice and idealism; broadly empathic

Note. Beginning with the I-4 stage, descriptions are cumulative. Content of table based upon material found in Holt (1980), Loevinger (1976), and Loevinger and Wessler (1970).

Possible Indicators of Ego Developmental Level In Survivors of Child Abuse

People who have been abused as children may be stuck in the earlier levels of ego development such as the self-protective level and may never attain the higher levels associated with adulthood. Being stuck in the "impulsive stage" of ego development may involve a preoccupation with sexual and aggressive drives (Ferrara, 1991). Someone who maintains the self-protective stage of ego development may demonstrate manipulative and exploitative interpersonal relations and self-centredness. This person may have an intense need for domination and control (1991). Preoccupation with reputation, status, and appearance are characteristic of a person who is in the conformist stage of ego development (1991). Such a person may experience guilt due to an excessively harsh super-ego. In severe cases of ego damage, the long term effect of child abuse may be forms of psychopathology (Cole & Putnam, 1992).

Chapter 3

PSYCHOPATHOLOGICAL IMPACT OF CHILD ABUSE

Ego Damage as an Etiological Factor

In some cases of child abuse, stunted ego growth may manifest as forms of psychopathologies. Persons with characteristics of the "Impulsive Stage" of ego development may demonstrate impulsive disorders such as alcohol or drug abuse, self-mutilation and hulimia, just to name a few.

According to the DSM III, impulsivity is a prime characteristic of Borderline personality disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 1987).

The "self protective stage" of ego development may involve a sense of mistrust toward others. Paranoid ideation may be a result of such mistrust. Borderline personality disorder and antisocial personality disorder may include the manipulative and exploitative interpersonal relations as well as the self centredness characteristic of the "self protective" stage of ego development.

An excessively harsh super-ego is a characteristic of the "Conformist Stage" of ego development that is a part of the complex dynamics of a person with borderline personality disorder. In other instances where overwhelming guilt leads to denial, dissociative disorders may be a result. Intense emotions caused by an overwhelming environment may hinder ego development. The ego becomes concerned with protecting the self.

Dissociative disorders may also be caused by intense feelings such as fear

Type of Child Maltreatment As A Factor

It has been suggested that there is a link between major childhood trauma and personality disorder. Instances of child neglect have been associated with the development of the "anxious" disorders of Cluster C in the DSM-IV. Child abuse, however, is more closely associated with the "odd" and "dramatic" personality disorders of Clusters A and B in the DSM-IV (Scott & Stradling, 1992). Antisocial Personality Disorder may be the result of an inability to appropriately express intense anger and rage. In antisocial personality disorder, the person projects their anger towards society in general. Multiple Personality Disorder is said to be linked to sexual and physical abuse of intense brutality (Helfer, R. & Kempe, R., 1987). "Most people with multiple personalities have been physically brutalized. psychologically assaulted, sexually violated and affectively overwhelmed" (Aldridge-Morris, 1987, p. 45). In one study of multiple personality disordered patients, 83% had been sexually abused of which 68% was incest, 75% had been repeatedly physically abused, and 68% had been physically and sexually abused (1987). Emotional abuse in the form of "double-binds" is thought to contribute to the development of schizophrenia in adolescents (Mayhall & Norgard, 1983). As described before, double binds describe a pattern of interaction that takes place between a child and a parent where there is a contradiction between the verbal message and the parent's tone of voice. For example, a child may feel confused about what

message to receive when a mother says "you are wonderful" in a degrading tone (1983). The physical and emotional stress of adolescence combined with such dysfunctional family interaction patterns may lead to schizophrenic behaviour in adolescents (1983).

Child sexual abuse has been described as a possible etiological factor in most severe mental disorders (Ratican, 1992). It has not been determined whether or not other types of child abuse are also etiological factors. A more accurate description I feel would include all types of child abuse that are severally traumatic in nature. I am suggesting that a combination of physical and/or sexual, and/or emotional child abuse in their most extreme form can be partly responsible for mental disorders such as dissociative disorders. anxiety disorders, eating disorders, sexual disorders, affective disorders, personality disorders, and substance abuse. It is important to understand that mental disorders occur in people without there ever having been a history of child abuse. However, as well, I believe many people are diagnosed with a mental disorder without acknowledgement of their abuse as a child. The nature of the impact of child abuse is problematic in determining who suffered from child abuse and who did not. Lapses in memory, dissociation and denial may keep the child abuse hidden. This is inevitable so it is perfectly understandable that such persons may be diagnosed with mental disorders. I feel that in instances where child abuse is revealed there should be a diagnosis that acknowledges the person's abusive past. There is a move in this direction now as people who were abused as children are being diagnosed with "Post Traumatic Stress Disorder." This move away from the single diagnostic disorders is a positive step; however, I do not believe the diagnosis of "Post Traumatic Stress Disorder" is necessarily the best direction to be headed in.

Chapter 4

IN SEARCH OF A THEORETICAL MODEL

Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Model

The Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) model as cited is DSM III-R is commonly used to describe the experience of child abuse. PTSD (DSM-III-R, 1987) is based on the experiencing of an unusual event by an individual that would be extremely anxiety provoking to almost anyone. The diagnosis of PTSD is based on symptoms relating to the reexperiencing of the traumatic event, avoidance of stimuli associated with the trauma, and hyperarousal.

There are problems involved with the use of the PTSD model to describe the experience of child abuse. PTSD model is insufficient because it uses as its basis a traumatic "event". This conflicts with the experience of child abuse where the trauma may result less from the event itself than from the situation surrounding the event. The trauma of child abuse can be seen as a process that occurs over time. When describing the trauma of child sexual abuse Finkelhor asserts "Some effects of sexual abuse may be due less to the experience itself than to later social reactions to disclosure (Finkelhor, 1986, p. 177)." The trauma of emotional abuse is an example of a process that occurs over time. This type of abuse may be traumatic when the child is persistently emotionally abused throughout his/her life. The PTSD model does not adequately encompass the broad range of trauma experienced in child abuse.

A second problem with the PTSD model is that it is a diagnostic model that is comprised of a list of symptoms. It does not address factors that may influence developmental issues in children who have been abused. For this reason, the PTSD model does not provide a treatment framework. Another important point to consider is that a theoretical model that focuses on symptoms does not completely describe the abused child. Common traits are observed among abused children such as hypervigilance, anxiety and low self-esteem. However there is not one typical personality profile for abused children (Martin and Beezeley, 1976). The PTSD model does not explain why some abused children are withdrawn, while some are hyperactive, or why some are compliant and others are antisocial or aggressive.

Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Model

Judith Herman (1992) agrees that the PTSD model does not accurately describe the experience of child abuse. She explains that in prolonged, repeated trauma, such as child abuse, the symptomatic impact is far more intricate and needs its own name (1992). Herman proposes a new diagnostic model called a Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Model (CPTSD) (1992). To be given this diagnosis a person must have "a history of subjection to totalitarian control over a prolonged period (months to years) (p. 121)." Survivors of childhood physical or sexual abuse are included in this model. This CPTSD model is comprised of symptorns relating to alterations in affect regulation, consciousness, self-esteem, perception of perpetrator, inter-personal relationships and sense of life's meaning. Herman's emphasis is on proposing this model as an attempt to provide an alternative to the single disorder diagnoses's that are sometimes given to people suffering from the effects of trauma (1992). The single disorder diagnoses that are sometimes given have a stigmatizing effect on the person who has been abused.

Feelings of powerlessness and low self-esteem may be reinforced by these types of disorders that emphasize defects in the person and fail to recognize the impact of victimization (1992). The CPTSD model makes the traumatic experience accountable for the symptoms and thus absolves the victim of blame.

The proposed "Complex Post Traumatic Stress Disorder" model appears to be better able to describe the impact of child abuse than the Post Traumatic Stress Disorder model, although the model states that it includes physical and sexual abuse, I feel that it may also be generalized to emotional abuse and child neglect.

The CPTSD model has some drawbacks. Like the PTSD model, it serves mainly diagnostic purposes. Insight is not given into the dynamics that are involved in the abuser's dysfunctional relationship to the child. An understanding of such dynamics will lead to better treatment strategies. More work is needed to link this model with developmental issues of abused children.

"Traumagenic Dynamics" Model

Finkelhor (1986) developed a conceptual model for the effect of child sexual abuse based on four trauma causing factors. These four factors include traumatic sexualization, stigmatization, betrayal and powerlessness (1986). Traumatic sexualization is the process of a child's corruption through misinforming a child about appropriate sexual behavior and the inappropriate conditioning of the child's sexual responsiveness. (Kendall-Tackett, Williams, and Finkelhor, 1993). Betrayal is the child's loss of trust that primary caretakers will protect him or her from harm (1993). Stigmatization includes factors that contribute to low self esteem such as rejection by family members or society in general and the instillment of shame on the child (1993). Powerlessness involves intense fear of death or injury related to the traumatic event as well as not being able to control the threatening environment or protect oneself from harm (1993).

Finkelhor describes that depending on each individual abuse case, "these mechanisms are present to varying degrees and in different forms (1993, p. 174)." Finkelhor states that these dynamics are generalized and are not limited to the traumatic experience of child sexual abuse but may occur in other kinds of trauma (1986). Research may need to be done to determine whether this model may be used for other types of child abuse. One would think that "traumatic sexualization" would be specific to child sexual abuse, however research done by Deblinger, McLeer, Atkins, Ralph

and Foa (1989) found that "17% of physically abused (but not sexually abused) children exhibited sexually inappropriate behavior (p. 173)."

Therefore, it appears likely that this "Traumagenic Dynamics" model may be generalized to all forms of child abuse. The next question would be whether or not these four dynamics best represent the impact of all forms of child abuse. For example, is the prevalence of traumatic sexualization high enough in other forms of child abuse to be given a place in this model? Are there other traumagenic dynamics that could be included to better represent the impact of child abuse. Clearly, further research is needed to address these questions.

A virtue of the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model is its acknowledgement of the effects of the behavior of the abuser on the development of the four trauma-causing factors. In essence, this model is a step ahead of the PTSD and CPTSD models in that it can be used as a basis for a treatment plan aimed at ego developmental issues. If an assessment made of a client suggests greatest trauma in the area of stigmatization, interventions can be made to increase self-esteem so as to counteract the client's devalued self perception (Finkelhor, 1986). In terms of providing a link between the traumatic impact of child abuse and the treatment of ego developmental deficiencies, the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model seems to be the most sufficient of the three models discussed.

Bridging the Gap

There is, however, a gap between the "Traumagenic Dynamics Model" and "Loevinger's Ego Development Scale". A treatment strategy for all forms of child abuse cannot be developed until it is clearly understood how the traumagenic dynamics are related to the ego developmental levels. In other words, we need to know what factors these dynamics and ego developmental levels have in common. I believe the answer to this dilemma lies in a "schema framework" developed by Abrahmson, McCann, Pearlman & Sakheim (1988). This schema framework was devised for their research on the assessment and treatment of child sexual abuse survivors (1988). The authors proposed that child sexual abuse survivors developed difficulties within one or more of five areas of psychological and interpersonal functioning (1988). The five areas chosen are safety, trust, power, esteem and intimacy. These areas were taken into the "schema framework" based on research of trauma and victimization (1988). Trauma and victimization are common to all forms of child abuse so I have adopted this schema framework to explain the relationship between the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model and "Loevinger's Ego Development Scale."

"Schema Framework" is relevant not only because it is based on an interactionist model where the person and environment are continuously interacting, but also because the five areas of psychological and interpersonal functioning are precisely the areas that art therapy treatment may be

concerned with. I have attempted to clarify the relationship between the Traumagenic Dynamics model, the Schema Framework and Loevinger's Ego Development Scale by visually paralleling them in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1

Traumagenic Dynamics Model		Schema Framework		Loevinger's Ego- Development Scale
(Trauma Causing Factors)	_	(Areas of Psychological & Interpersonal Functioning)		(Optimum Level of Functioning)
Betrayal	>	Safety Trust	>	Presocial - Symbiotic
Powerlessness	>	Power	>	Ritual-Traditional Impulse Ridden
Stigmatization	>	Self-Esteem	>	Conformist Self Aware
Traumatic Sexualization	>	Intimacy	>	Conscientious Individualistic

The combination of these three develops a strong foundation for the treatment of ego development deficiencies and damage caused by traumatic child abuse. The way to enhance ego development is to work on the five issues of safety, trust, power, self-esteem and intimacy. If a child abuse survivor has ego damage in the presocial-symbiotic level, he/she may have difficulty trusting him/herself or other people. The art therapist, by noting the corresponding dynamic of betrayal, understands that as an art therapist particular attention must be given to developing a trusting relationship with the client. By using the information in Table 2, the art therapist is able to have a better understanding of the issues the child abuse survivor needs to deal with as well as ways that the therapeutic relationship can promote ego development.

Chapter 5

ART THERAPY TREATMENT IN CHILD ABUSE

Art Process as Healer

The therapeutic effect of art is not a revolutionary concept. For as long as art has been created, it has been used to make sense of crisis, pain and psychic upheaval "Human suffering has inspired some of our greatest art (Malchiodi, 1990)." It has been suggested that art may have been developed, in the first place, to alleviate or contain powerful emotions, anxiety and traumatic experiences (1990). Cathy Malchiodi, who is an art therapist, has often used the art process as a means to deal with her own traumatic experiences. Through the art process she has gained greater self awareness and understanding. Alice Miller, who is another contemporary author on child abuse, agrees from her own experience, that working through feelings associated with painful childhood experiences is valuable. She states "I want only to let the child in me speak and paint long enough for me to understand her language (Miller as cited in Malchiodi, 1990, p. 7)."

Inherent qualities of the art process facilitate healing for the person who has been abused as a child. Art has the capacity to encompass the many complex and confusing feelings a person has as a result of child abuse and does not separate abuse into distinguishable types such as physical abuse, sexual abuse etc. (Malchiodi, 1990). The art process may be beneficial to a person even when it is uncertain what types of abuse

occurred. This is sometimes the case when children will not speak of the abuse they have suffered or in the case of some adults who have memory lapses or who are in denial.

Through sublimation, the art process becomes a neutralizing agent for aggression and violence that are often the result of child abuse (Kramer, 1971). The art activity becomes the forum where a person may express his/her anger in an acceptable manner. The aggression becomes a source of creativity instead of a source of destruction.

Aspects or events surrounding a person's traumatic experiences of child abuse may be encuded in a person's memory by means of a photographic process (Johnson, 1987). This process can be described as the mind taking a picture of the traumatic event. Sometimes people are able to recall sounds, images, smells etc. with incredible detail and accuracy. These memories are often intrusive and show up in re-occurring dreams. This reliving of a traumatic event is part of the criteria for Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. Because the art process is a visual modality, it may offer easy access to such photographic traumatic memories. If such memories can be expressed through the art process a distancing between the self and the content of the memories may take place (1987).

Edith Kramer describes the power of the artistic process as lying in its ability to serve as a model for ego functioning (Malchiodi, 1990). Feelings and ideas may be expressed through the art as well as experimentation with

change. When the art activity becomes a direct metaphor for traumatic experiences, the art therapist may be given insight into the person's ego strength and coping mechanisms (1990). Malchiodi states that spontaneous art expression where the artistic process is selected and controlled by the child may also be ego-strengthening as it places the child in the position of power (1990).

Role of Art Therapist as Facilitator of Ego Development

In art therapy, the relationship between the therapist and the client is crucial to the healing process. The process of creating an art work can be cathartic if emotions are released and worked through in the art therapy relationship (Dalley, 1984). Feelings such as anger or fear which may be frightening to the client, can be contained within the therapeutic relationship (Orleman, 1994). Working with clay is an effective approach to dealing with anger because it has a dynamic quality that provides possibilities for movement, change, destruction and integration (Malchiodi, 1990).

Sometimes a client may not be able to identify the source of an intense feeling he/she has. The client can be encouraged to draw the feeling itself so that it can be addressed by the art therapist and client in order for the client to understand his/her feelings on a conscious level (1994). The sharing of the art process and product between the client and the art therapist offers protection, validity and permanence for the art expression (Rubin, 1984).

The art therapist is able to encourage ego development by acting as a facilitator or as an auxiliary ego for the client. For the client, the art therapist may supply extra energy, patience, control or skill (Kramer, 1979). It is the art therapist's role to facilitate the art process so as to provide optimum conditions for ego enhancement.

Ego developmental disturbances may be caused by unsuccessful individuation due to the splitting of the maternal object into "good and bad"

parts (Robbins, 1987). One therapeutic goal is the internalization of the art therapist as a figure with both "good and bad" parts (Robbins, 1987). It is hoped that this successful internalization will be transferred to the client's interpersonal relationships with significant others in his/her life.

Ego Strengthening Through Art Therapy

The ego damage that is inflicted on a person who has been abused is a result of the dysfunctional interaction between the abuser and the child. It is, however, the child's total environment that will determine the extent of ego damage or delays in ego development. In some instances a child may have healthy, positive relationships with significant others in their lives.

These other relationships may in fact neutralize the negative effects on the child's ego. In art therapy, the therapeutic environment involves the triadic relationship between the child, the art process and the therapist. A healthy therapeutic relationship may neutralize ego damage and strengthen the ego of an abused child, or perhaps have a reparative effect on the ego of an adult survivor of child abuse.

The trauma of child abuse may damage the ego in such a way that the person may lose the capacity to fantasize, symbolize and sublimate (Stronach-Buschel, 1990). Melanie Klein emphasizes the importance of symbolism as the "foundation of all sublimation" necessary for ego development (Klein, 1975, p.220). Before visual symbols can be used to express trauma in art therapy, the child must feel safe and secure enough to enter the transitional space provided in the art work (Stronach-Buschel, 1990). Once the child gains trust in the art therapist and the therapeutic environment the child may begin to master feelings and gain greater control by symbolically representing and exploring conflicts (1990). Carol Knibbe

observes "process types" in her art therapy treatment with children who have been sexually abused. She observes "symbolic expression" as a level of ego development which is dependent on the therapist's ability to facilitate trust as well as his/her ability to understand the symbolic meaning of the child's graphic communication (Knibbe, 1990). Knibbe suggests the treatment goal for these children is to help them understand their symbols so they may express their thoughts and feelings and identify their conflicts in a more meaningful way (1990).

Schema Framework Issues

Art therapy may promote ego development in survivors of chiid abuse by treating the areas of psychological and interpersonal functioning that are specifically problematic to this population. This section describes art therapy treatment in the areas of safety and trust, empowerment, self esteem, and intimacy.

Safety and Trust

A role of the art therapist is to establish therapeutic boundaries to ensure a safe environment for the client. Because an invasion of the boundaries of the self have been characteristic of the child abuse survivor's environment, the art therapist should ensure that the client is respected, while at the same time functions within the therapeutic boundaries. As part of the creation of a safe environment, the art therapist must establish consistency and structure through the art therapy (Malchiodi, 1990). By being dependable and providing structure, the art therapist will provide the child abuse survivor with security about what will transpire (Malchiodi, 1990). The client who has been abused often comes from an unstable environment with much parental inconsistency. Consistency and stability on the part of the art therapist are essential to the client's development of trust.

Empowerment

The art therapist as a mental health professional is inherently in a position of power. It is important therefore, for the therapist to facilitate the empowerment of the child abuse survivor through the art process.

Spontaneous art expression can be empowering for the child abuse survivor. Spontaneous art expression is defined as "nondirected experiences in drawing, painting, collage, sculpting or constructing in which the child may choose materials and make decisions on how to use them (Malchiodi, 1990, p.101)". Choice is particularly empowering for the child abuse survivor as the abusive situation offers little choice or control (1990). The child abuse survivor may have an effect on the world around him/her symbolically through the space of the artistic experience. This artistic experience helps to develop an internal locus of control which is a necessary component of the empowerment of the client (1990).

Self Esteem

For the purpose of increasing self esteem, the art therapist should identify the child abuse survivors interests and strengths early in the treatment process (Malchiodi, 1990). Through the art, the therapist may facilitate possibilities for the enhancement of self esteem (1990). Franklin suggests that making an object out of an idea is enhancing to the self esteem of a person (Franklin, 1992). Through the art, a client works through

harsh self perceptions and replaces them with new perspectives (1992). As a client achieves greater self awareness through artistic expression, he/she may gain greater self confidence, self esteem and a sense of achievement,

Intimacy

The interactions between the art therapist, client, materials and art product provide a rehearsal of relationship building skills. The art therapy relationship is a safe arena where these skills may be exercised before being incorporated into the client's interpersonal relationships (Franklin, 1992). When the client has greater self confidence, trusts the art therapist and feels safe and protected within the therapeutic relationship, a type of intimacy can be achieved. A client may begin to express his/her true self and true feelings without the fear of punishment or abandonment. Intimacy can occur when the client's art expressions are accepted by the art therapist, no matter what the content. By accepting the art expressions, the art therapist shows his/her willingness to accept the client for who he/she is (Malchiodi, 1990).

Visualization Technique as Ego Strengthener

Bloomgarden and Kaplan (1993) have devised a technique for promoting ego development using Loevinger's ego development theory as a framework for treatment goals. The technique incorporates visualization and art experiences and is used with groups of adults. Bloomgarden and Kaplan (1993) state that visualization can be used for the purpose of increasing self esteem. Imagery also has been found to "reinforce healing of both the mind and the body (p. 203)."

Bloomgarden & Kaplan describe in their article a "Transactional Analysis Visualization" technique. In Transactional Analysis, the focus of attention is on interactional patterns and communication within the clients personal relationships. Transactional Analysis asserts that people are motivated by the need for "strokes" (1993, p.203). In the Transactional Analysis Visualization technique, the art directive was designed with the intent of creating a positive stroke (1993).

To summarize, the Transactional Analysis Visualization technique begins by each person in the group choosing a partner who they do not know. Each partner takes three minutes to talk about themself to the other person. This is followed by relaxation exercises and then visualization. With their eyes closed, the members of the group are asked to think about one positive quality they discovered in their partner. They are asked to feel that good quality and imagine what it looks like, noting the shapes, colors, lines and

patterns. Following the visualization, each person has fiften minutes to make an artwork portraying the positive quality. After completion, each person takes a turn giving their artwork to their partner and describing the special quality and how it looks. The partner will receive the artwork and state the quality by saying "I am ...". Time is alotted at the end for a discussion (1993).

It is proposed that the positive interaction between the partners is ego building (1993). For survivors of traumatic child abuse, this visualization technique as incorporated into art therapy may serve to address intimacy issues and hence may help to increase self esteem.

There are problems with the Bloomgarden and Kaplan technique that are relevant to this research paper. The studies that were done were carried out on adults only, therefore it is not known whether their technique may be used on children. Also, their study did not specifically include adults who were abused as children. Therefore a theoretical model of child abuse was not incorporated with ego functioning. Further studies may have to be done to determine if visualization techniques in combination with art experiences are an effective treatment for ego damage as a result of traumatic child abuse.

An important point to consider is that visualization in the form of "guided fantasy" may not be an effective form of art therapy treatment for people who have suffered child abuse. Levens found much opposition to the

use of guided fantasy in her study of survivors of sexual abuse, mainly due to control issues (1994). Some of the people in her study felt the need to be in control of their own fantasies. A visualization technique that may be more effective is one called "receptive visualization" (Bloomgarden and Kaplan, 1993, p. 203). In this technique there are minimal prompts and the person's mind is encouraged to "wander and seek its own place (p. 203)." Another problem with using guided fantasy is that it may evoke traumatic memories which may be overwhelming for the client.

Problems in Treating Survivors of Traumatic Child Abuse

When treating survivors of traumatic child abuse, issues may arise that are problematic for effective art therapy to take place.

In cases of physical abuse, brain damage may be a cause of egodevelopmental damage to the child. The art therapist may require that medical testing be done on a client who describes severe physically abusive incidents. In incidents of brain damage, ego-development damage may be irreversible or more permanent than incidents of psychological trauma (Martin, 1976).

Another problem encountered in the art therapy process involves the intense emotions that stem from child abuse. The resurfacing of these emotions can be like a reexperiencing of the trauma of child abuse. The client may become more defensive and his/her psychological health may disintegrate as a result (Stronach-Buschell, 1990). If intense emotions overwhelm the client this may jeopardize the safe environment, trust and self esteem that has already been worked on. It may disempower a client and destroy the therapeutic alliance. The intense material may need to be broken down into smaller parts that are more tolerable to the client (1990). As the client gains the ability to better cope with his/her abusive past, their self-confidence may become stronger. The art therapist must have a heightened awareness and sensitivity toward the client's emotional state and be capable of helping the client to regain control, if needed. A challenge for the art

therapist is to give support to the client while avoiding the establishment of the client's dependency on the therapist (Malchiodi, 1990).

Problems may be encountered if the art therapist is not observant of the transference and countertransference which is inherent in any therapeutic relationship. Understanding these issues can be beneficial to the therapy as they may reflect a great deal about the client's experiences. Survivors of child abuse may bring their transferential expectations into the therapeutic relationship which may include failure to protect, abandonment, indifference and even assault (Olio & Cornell, 1993). In some instances, traditional neutrality in therapy may be perceived as a lack of caring or sadistic pleasure in the patient's suffering (1993). Therapists who work frequently in the area of child abuse must be aware of distancing and minimizing the abuse as this may recreate the client's dysfunctional family relationship (1993). At times, the art therapist may be seen as a rescuer and is idealized as "good". Other times the art therapist is seen as a seducer or punishing parent and is "bad". In art therapy, an effective means for the therapist to understand his/her countertransference reaction to the client is to do post-session response drawings (Rubin, 1984).

Chapter 6

CONCLUSION

Summary

Transcending the intricacies of each particular type of child abuse, is a commonality which may be the key factor in treating survivors of child abuse through art therapy. Given that all forms of child abuse may be seen as invasions of the boundaries of the self, ego-developmental damage may be prevalent among child abuse in general. Since it is not always possible to determine what type of abuse occurred, the establishment of egodevelopmental issues as a commonality is very important. In addition to ego developmental damage, it is proposed that child abuse may have a psychopathological impact if it is "severely" traumatic. The proposed "Traumagenic Dynamics" model appears best suited as a theoretical model because it does not focus on a traumatic event and environmental influences are considered. Table 4.1 seems to illustrate a relationship between the "Traumagenic Dynamics" model and Loevinger's Ego-Developmental Stages by incorporating a "schema framework" to link the two. The research thus far suggests the importance of art therapy in relation to ego-developmental issues and child abuse. Through the triadic relationship between the client, therapist and art work, art therapy can specifically address schema framework issues such as safety/trust, empowerment, self esteem and intimacy which may facilitate the strengthening of the ego.

Future Research

Research could be done to determine the accuracy of equating particular ego-developmental levels to certain areas of psychological and interpersonal functioning as described in the schema framework previously discussed. For example, if by using "Loevinger's Sentence Completion Test" it is determined that a person's level of ego functioning is in the presocial-symbiotic stage, further testing could be done to determine if there is a predominance of issues in the person's life relating to safety and trust.

If a relationship does exist between ego development levels and areas in the "schema framework" then experiments could be done to determine whether specific art therapy techniques are effective in promoting growth in ego developmental levels. For example, if the "receptive visualization" technique increases self esteem in child abuse survivors, then we can say that art therapy may be effective in treating the ego developmental issues associated with traumatic child abuse.

These are general descriptions of possible research issues. Of course, much further thought and consideration should be given to the planning of these experiments. As a preliminary, many experiments may have to be performed first to determine the reliability and validity of the larger studies relating to art therapy.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abrahamson, D.J., McCann, L., Pearlman, L.A., & Sakheim, D.K. (1988).

 Assessment and treatment of the adult survivor of childhood sexual abuse within a schema framework. In S.M. Sgroi (Ed.), <u>Vulnerable Populations Evaluation and Treatment of Sexually Abused Children and Adult Survivors</u>. Toronto: Lexington Books.
- Aldridge-Morris, R. (1987). <u>Multiple Personality</u>. Hillside: Lawrence Eribaum Associates, publisher.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1987). <u>Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (3rd ed.-revised</u>. Washington, D.C.: Author.
- Bloomgarden, J. & Kaplan, F. (1993). Using visualization and art to promote ego development: an evolving technique for groups. <u>Art Therapy:</u>

 Journal of The American Art Therapy Association, 10, 201-207.
- Branden, N. (1969). <u>The Psychology of Self Esteem</u>. Los Angeles: Nash Publishing.
- Cole, P.M. & Putnam, F.W. (1992). Effects of incest on self and social functioning: A developmental psychopathology perspective. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 60, 174-184.
- Crittenden, P.M. & Ainsworth, M.D.S. (1989), Child Maltreatment and attachment theory. In D.Cicchetti and V.Carlson (Eds.), Child Maltreatment: Theory and Research on the Causes and Consequences of Child Abuse and Neglect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dalley, T. (1984). Art Therapy. New York: Tavistock Publications.
- Delin, M. (1978). The Sex Offender. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Dubowitz, H. & Newberger, E. (1989). Pediatrics and child abuse. In D. Cicchetti and V. Carlson (Eds.), <u>Child Maltreatment: Theory and Research on the Causes and Consequences of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dufrene, P. (1994). Art therapy and the sexually abused child. <u>Art Education</u>, November, 6-11.
- Everstine, D.S. & Everstine, L. (1989). <u>Sexual Trauma in Children and Adolescents</u>. New York: Brunner/Mazel.

- Ferrara, N. (1991). Art as a reflection of child development. The American Journal of Art Therapy, 30, 44-50.
- Finkelhor, D. (1986). A Sourcebook on Child Sexual Abuse. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Finkelhor, D. (1988). The trauma of child sexual abuse. In G.E. Wyatt and G.J. Powell (Eds.). <u>Lasting effects of child sexual abuse</u> (pp. 61-82). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Finkelhor, D. (1989). <u>New Myths About Child Sexual Abuse</u>. Ottawa:
 National Clearinghouse on Family Violence, Family Violence Prevention
 Division, Health and Welfare Canada.
- Finkelhor, D. (1995, June). <u>Victimization of Children: Raising our Consciousness</u>. Paper presented at the Canadian Guidance Counselling Association Conference, St. John's, Newfoundland.
- Franklin, M. (1992). Art therapy and self esteem. <u>Art Therapy: Journal of The American Art Therapy Association</u>, 9, 78-84.
- Friedrich, W.N. (1990). <u>Psychotherapy of Sexually Abused Children and Their Families</u>. New York: W.W. Norton & Company.
- Harris, M. (1990). <u>Unholy Orders: Tragedy at Mount Cashel.</u> Markham, Ont.: Viking.
- Health Services Directorate (1991). Child Sexual Abuse: Guildelines for Community Workers. Canada: Health and Welfare.
- Helfer, R. & Kempe, R. (1987). <u>The Battered Child</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Herman, J. (1992). <u>Trauma and Recovery</u>. New York: Harper Collins Publishing.
- James, B. (1989). <u>Treating Traumatized Children.</u> Massachusetts: Lexington Books.
- Janko, S. (1994). <u>vulnerable Children, Vulnerable Families</u>. New York: Teachers College Press.

- Johnson, D. (1987). The role of the creative arts therapies in the diagnosis and treatment of psychological trauma. <u>Arts in Psychotherapy</u>, <u>14</u>, 7-13.
- Kendall-Tackett, K.A., Williams, L.M., & Finkelhor, D. (1993). Impact of sexual abuse on children: A review and synthesis of recent empirical studies. Psychological Bulletin, 113, 164-180.
- Kilgore, L.C. (1988). Effects of early childhood sexual abuse on self and ego development. Social Casework: The Journal of Contemporary Social Work, 224-230.
- Knibbe, C. (1990). Treating sexually abused children using art therapy. Canadian Journal of Art Therapy, 5, 18-26.
- Kramer, E. (1971). Art as Therapy with Children. New York: Schocken Press.
- Kramer, E. (1979). <u>Childhood and Art Therapy</u>. New York: Schocken Press.
- Levens, M. (1994). Use of guided fantasy in art therapy with survivors of sexual abuse. The Arts in Psychotherapy, 21, 127-133.
- Mahler, M.S. (1968). On <u>Human Symbiosis And The Vicissitudes Of</u> Individuation. New York: International Universities Press.
- Malchiodi, C.A. (1990). <u>Breaking the Silence: Art Therapy with Children from Violent Homes</u>. New York: Brunner/Mazel Publishers.
- Martin, H.P. & Beezeley, P. (1976). Personality of abused children. In H.P. Martin (Eds.), <u>The Abused Child: Multidisciplinary Approach to Developmental Issues and Treatment</u>. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.
- Mayes, G., Currie, E., Macleod, L., Gillies, J. & Warden, D. (1992). <u>Child Sexual Abuse</u>. Edinburgh: Scottish Academic Press Ltd.
- Mayhall, P. & Norgard, K. (1983). <u>Child Abuse and Neglect</u>. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Naitove, C.E. (1982). Arts in therapy with sexually abused children. In S.Sgroi (Ed.), <u>Handbook of Clinical Intervention in Child Sexual Abuse</u>. Massachusetts: Lexington Books.

- Oates, R.K., Forrest, D., & Peacock, A. (1985). Self esteem and abused children. Child Abuse and Neglect, 9,159-163.
- O'Hagan, K. (1995). Emotional and psychological abuse: problems of definition. Child Abuse and Neglect, 19, 449-461.
- Orleman, J. (1994). Looking in looking out: an artist's journey through childhood sexual abuse. The American Journal of Art Therapy, 11, 62-65.
- Peterson, K.C., Prout, M.F., & Schwarz, R.A. (1991). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: A Clinician's Guide. New York: Plenum Press.
- Ratican, K. (1992). Sexual abuse survivors: Identifying symptoms and special treatment considerations. <u>Journal of Counselling and Development</u>, 71, 33-38.
- Registered Nurses Association of Nova Scotia. (1984). Child Abuse Manual. Halifax: Registered Nurses Association of Nova Scotia.
- Robbins, A. (1987). An object relations approach to art therapy. In J.Rubin, (Ed.), <u>Approaches to Art Therapy</u> (pp. 66-74). New York: Brunner Mazel.
- Rutter, M. (1989). Intergenerational Continuites and discontinuities in serious parenting difficulties. In D. cicchetti and V.Carlson (Eds.), Child Maltreatment: Theory and Research on the Causes and Consequences of Child Abuse and Neglect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Scott, M. & Stradling, S. (1992). <u>Counselling for Post Traumatic Stress</u>
 Disorder. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Simonds, S.L. (1992). Sexual abuse and body image: approaches and implications for treatment. <u>The Arts in Psychotherapy</u>, 19, 289-293.
- Stronach-Buschel, B. (1990). Trauma, Children and Art. <u>The American</u> Journal of Art Therapy, 29, 48-52.
- Walker, C.E., Bonner, B.L. & Kaufman, K.L. (1988). The Physically and Sexually Abused Child: Evaluation and Treatment. New York: pergamon Press.
- Webb, E.J. (1966). <u>Unobtrusive Measures.</u> Chicago: Rand McNally & Company.

- Wohl, A. & Kaufman, B. (1985). Silent Screams and Hidden Cries. New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Zigler, E. & Hall, N.W. (1989). Physical child abuse in america: past, present and future. In D. Cicchetti and V. Carlson (Eds.), Child Maltreatment:

 Theory and Research on the Causes and Consequences of Child Abuse and Neglect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.